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MUNAITAS LLP

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements presenting fairly in all material
respects the financial position of MunaiTas LLP (further - the “Company”) as of 31 December 2021, and
its financial performance, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, in compliance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Management’s responsibility for preparation of the financial statements include:

e proper selection and application of the accounting policies;

e presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

e providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in International
Financial Reporting Standards is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions impacting Company's financial position and financial
performance; and

e making assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

Management is also responsible for:
e designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and reliable system of internal controls
throughout the Company;

e maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company,
and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements of the Company comply with IFRS;

» maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with Kazakhstani legislation and accounting
standards;

e taking all reasonably available steps to safeguard the assets of the Company; and

e preventing and detecting fraud and other overrides of control.

These financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approved by
management on 1 February 2022,

/ /
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hief accountant

/
Nagayev R. M. \ \\‘1 {
Executive director

of economics and finance

1 February 2022 1 February 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Participants and Management of Munaitas LLP

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Munaitas LLP (the "Company") as at 31 December 2021, and the Company's financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards.

What we have audited

The Company's financial statements comprise:

o the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

¢ the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
s the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

¢ the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Republic of Kazakhstan. We have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and the ethical requirements of
the Republic of Kazakhstan that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
34 Al-Farabi Ave., Building A, 4th floor, Almaty, Kazakhstan, A25D5F6
T: +7 (727) 330 32 00, F: +7 (727) 244 68 68, www.pwc.kz
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company
to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

1 February 2022
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Approved by:

: £, Baurzhan BurkhanBakey
Managing Director %" s Auditor in charge
PricewaterhouseCooparetlP> = (Qualified Auditor’s Certificate
(General State License of the Ministry of Ne0000586 dated 30 October 2006)
Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan

Ne0000005 dated 21 October 1999)




MUNAITAS LLP

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021

(in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
ntangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables
Current income tax prepayments
Other current assets
Short-term financial investments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Charter capital
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve

Total equity

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provision for asset retirement obligation

Deferred tax liability
Long-term lease liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Advances received
Short-term lease liabilities
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

On behalf of the ompany S managen

Nagayev R. M.
Executive d1rector
of economic and finance

1 February 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

Notes

oo

11

12
10

13

14

15
24
18

16
17
18

31 December

31 December

2021 2020
45.834.870 42.747.400
169.197 205.967
148.395 380.227
872.182 537.242
47.024.644 43.870.836
533.837 171.951

= 17.321

130.011 101.069
1.326.943 1.371.888
5.643.898 5.484.575
7.281.859 8.687.482
14.916.548 15.834.286
61.941.192 59.705.122
10.048.600 10.048.600
36.556.031 33.814.830
7.679.532 8.125.664
54.284.163 51.989.094
2.005.298 1.856.415
3.342.113 3.408.394
- 187.064
5.347411 5.451.873
477.928 846.543
1.267.213 829.029
227.172 277478
337.305 311.105
2.309.618 2.264.155
61.941.192 59.705.122

Wang Li
Deputy of Genefal Director -
Chief accountarjt

1 February 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



MUNAITAS LLP

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
COST OF SERVICES

GROSS PROFIT

General and administrative expenses
Other operating income

Other operating expense

OPERATING PROFIT

Finance expense

Foreign exchange gains and losses, net
Interest income

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Loss from change in estimates for asset retirement obligation
Income tax benefit/(expense)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

On behalf of the Company’s managements
/ / '
/f

M
N

Nagayev R. M. K

Executive director
of economic and finance

1 February 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

Notes

19
20

21
24

23
22

25

15
25

2021 2020
10.206.100 7.501.440
(6.466.712) (4.797.639)
3.739.388 2.703.801
(1.434.961) (1.335.141)
112.236 581.330
(167.428) (102.241)
2.249.235 1.847.749
(157.936) (152.254)
128.889 485.644
712.810 857.042
2.932.998 3.038.181
(619.061) (609.956)
2.313.937 2.428.225
(23.592) (421.303)
4.724 84.261
(18.868) (337.042)
2.295.069 2.091.183

Deputy of General|Director -
Chief accountant

1 February 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



MUNAITAS LLP

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)

Charter Revaluation Retained Total
Capital reserve . earnings —____ equity
Balance at 1 January 2020 10.048.600 8.924.952 30.924.359 49.897.911
Profit for the year - - 2.428.225 2.428.225
Other comprehensive loss for the
year - (337.042) - (337.042)
Total comprehensive income for
the year - (337.042) 2.428.225 2.091.183
Realised revaluation reserve, net of
tax - (462.246) 462.246 .
Balance at 31 December 2020 10.048.600 8.125.664 33.814.830 51.989.094
Profit for the year - - 2.313.937 2.313.937
Other comprehensive loss for the
year - (18.868) - (18.868)
Total comprehensive income for
the year - (18.868) 2.313.937 2.295.069
Realised revaluation reserve, net of
tax (427.264) 427.264 -
Balance at 31 December 2021 10.048.600 7.679.532 36.556.031 54.284.163

On behalf of the Company’s managemeny;

1Y

Nagayev R. M. (;_\\J / Wang Li
Executive director Deputy of General Birector -
of economic and finance Chief accountant

1 February 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

1 February 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



MUNAITAS LLP

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit for the period before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 6,7
Interest income 22
Finance expense
Loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Reserve for obsolete inventories
Provision on expected credit losses
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net 23

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in working capital
Change in trade receivables

Change in inventories

Change in other current assets

Change in trade payables

Change in advances received

Change in other current liabilities

Cash flows from operating activities
Income tax paid
Interest income received on short term deposits

Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Placement of deposits in banks
Refund of cash deposits

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Additional contribution to the charter capital 13
Payments for lease liabilities

Net cash received from financing activities
Effect of change in foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at the beginning of the year 9

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at the end of the year 9

On behalf of the Company’s management:

i
Nagayev R. M. X\,\,
r

Executive direc
of economic and finance

1 February 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

2021 2020
2.932.998 3.038.181
2.956.966 2.177.050
(712.510) (857.042)

157.936 152.254
155.684 33.829
- (4.861)
. (1.454)
(141.771) (485.644)
5.349.303 4052313
17.321 (18.865)
(361.886) (113.924)
(60.627) (864.787)
(786.102) 58.949
438.184 (28.731)
49.960 7.371
4.646.153 3.092.326
(602.882) (274.864)
712.810 857.04
4.756.153 3.674.504
(5.873.968) (12.418.557)
(16.673.756) (10.527.096)
16.690.167 10.561.727
(5.857.557) (12.383.926)
. 5.000.000
(270.184) (268.178)
(270.184) 4.731.822
(33.963) (207.745)
(1.405.623) (4.185.345)
8.687.482 12.872.827
7.281.859 8.687.482

()

Wang Li

Deputy of General Director -

Chief accountant

1 February 2022

Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Under the applicable legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan MunaiTas LLP (“the Company™) is a legal
entity, to which all the rights and obligations of the reorganised Joint Stock Company MunaiTas
North-West Pipeline Company have been transferred. The participants of the Company are
KazTransOil JSC (“KazTransOil”), a subsidiary of KazMunaiGas National Company JSC
(“KazMunaiGas”) and CNPC Exploration and Development Company Ltd. (“CNPC E&D”), a subsidiary
of PetroChina, owning 51% and 49% in the charter capital, respectively. The Company is jointly
controlled by KazTransOil and CNPC E&D on an equal basis in accordance with the constituent
documents. KazTransOil is ultimately controlled by NWF Samruk — Kazyna JSC (“Samruk — Kazyna”)
which is owned by the government of the Republic of Kazakhstan, and the ultimate controlling party of
CNPC E&D is CNPC, a state company of China.

The Company was founded (o construct and operate the oil pipeline Kenkiyak (Aktobe oblast) — Atyrau
(Atyrau oblast) located in the West Kazakhstan. On 18 June 2004 the Company put the pipeline into
operations. The Company is considered a monopolist and, accordingly, subject to regulation by the
Committee on Regulation of Natural Monopolies of the Ministry of National Economy of the Republic of
Kazakhstan (the “Committee”). The Committee approves tariff rates, which are based on return of capital
used to construct the assets. During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Company transported 4.277
thousand tons of oil (during the year ended 31 December 2020: 3.324 thousand tons of oil).

The Company’s legal address is: Republic of Kazakhstan, Almaty, 26/29, Timiryazev St.

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PRESENTATION
Basis for financial statement preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”).

The Company’s financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
valuation of financial instruments and revaluation of property, plant and equipment. The principal
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below in Note 4.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated (refer to
new and revised standards adopted by the Company in Note 3).

Use of estimates and assumptions

Preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS assumes that the management makes an
estimates and assumptions that affect the assets and liabilities recognised in the financial statements and
income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities during the subsequent financial
period. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Management also uses professional judgements and estimates in the process of applying
the accounting policies. Due to uncertainty specific to such estimates, actual results reflected in future
accounting periods might be based on amounts, which differ from these estimates. Important accounting
estimates and professional judgements are presented in Note 5.



MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

Functional and presentation currency

The functional and presentation currency of the Company, which reflects economic essence of the
Company’s operations is Kazakhstani Tenge (“Tenge”). All amounts in these financial statements are
presented in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The following amended standards became effective for the Company from 1 January 2021, but did not
have any material impact on the Company:

e COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions Amendment to IFRS 16 issued on 28 May 2020 and effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

¢ Interest rate benchmark (IBOR) reform — phase 2 amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16 (issued on 27 August 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021).

Unless otherwise stated above, these amendments do not have an impact on the Company's financial
statements.

Certain new standards have been issued but not yet effective:

e Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture — Amendments
to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued on 11 September 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on
or after a date to be determined by the IASB).

e ]FRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2021, the effective date subsequently modified to 1 January 2023 by the
Amendments to IFRS 17 as discussed below).

e Amendments to IFRS 17 and an amendment to IFRS 4 (issued on 25 June 2020 and effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

e (Classification of liabilities as current or non-current — Amendments to IAS 1 (issued on 23 January
2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022).

e Classification of liabilities as current or non-current, deferral of effective date — Amendments to IAS
1 (issued on 15 July 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

e Proceeds before intended use, Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework — narrow scope amendments to IAS 16, IAS 37 and IFRS 3, and Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 — amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 (issued
on 14 May 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022).

e Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies (issued on
12 February 2021 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

e Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates (issued on 12 February 2021 and effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

e Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions — Amendments to IFRS 16 (issued on 31 March 2021 and
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021).

e Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction — Amendments to IAS 12
(issued on 7 May 2021 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

Unless otherwise indicated above, it is expected that these new standards and explanations will not
materially affect the Company's financial statements.

10



MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, after recognition as asset are carried at
revaluation cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where required.

Property, plant and equipment are subject to revaluation with sufficient regularity to ensure that the
carrying amount does not differ materially from that, which would be determined using fair value at the
end of the reporting period. Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to other
comprehensive income and increase the revaluation surplus in equity. Decreases that offset previous
increases of the same asset are recognised in other comprehensive income and decrease the previously
recognised revaluation surplus in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss for the year. The
revaluation reserve for property, plant and equipment included in equity is transferred directly to retained
earnings when the revaluation surplus is realised on the retirement or disposal of the asset or as the asset
is used by the Company; in the latter case, the amount of the surplus realised is the difference between
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s
original cost.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Costs of minor repairs and day-to-day
maintenance are expensed when incurred. Cost of replacing major parts or components of property, plant
and equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is retired.

At the end of each reporting period, management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment
of property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists, management estimates the recoverable
amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss for the year to the extent it exceeds the previous revaluation surplus in equity. An impairment loss
recognised for an asset in prior years is reversed where appropriate if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised in profit or loss for the year within other operating income or costs.

Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of property, plant and equipment is calculated using

the straight-line method to allocate their revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives:

Useful lives (in years)
Buildings and constructions 5-50
Oil pipeline 15-25
Machinery and equipment 3-30
Vehicles 2-12
Office equipment and furniture 3-10
Other 3-15

11



MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Company would currently obtain from
disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset was already of the age and in the
condition expected at the end of its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Company
expects to use the asset until the end of its physical life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets

The Company’s intangible assets have definite useful lives and primarily include capitalised computer
software and licences.

Intangible assets are recorded at purchase cost and amortised using the straight-line method over their
estimated economic useful lives from two to seven years.

The gain or loss on derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the net
disposal of the asset and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss in the
reporting period in which the asset was derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventory on release to
production or other disposal is determined on the first in first out basis. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated cost of completion and
selling expenses.

Financial instruments

Depending on their classification, financial instruments are carried at fair value or amortised cost as
described below.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is the
price in an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is measured as the product of the quoted
price for the individual asset or liability and the number of instruments held by the entity. This is the case
even if a market’s normal daily trading volume is not sufficient to absorb the quantity held and placing
orders to sell the position in a single transaction might affect the quoted price.

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or models based on recent arm’s length
transactions or consideration of financial data of the investees are used to measure fair value of certain
financial instruments for which external market pricing information is not available. Fair value
measurements are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are measurements
at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) level two
measurements are valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and (iii) level three measurements
are valuations not based on solely observable market data (that is, the measurement requires significant
unobservable inputs). Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at
the end of the reporting period. Valuation techniques may require assumptions not supported by
observable market data. Disclosures are made in these financial statements if changing any such
assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative would result in significantly different profit, income,
total assets or total liabilities.

12



MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of
a financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had
not taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees
acting as selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities
exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts,
financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at initial recognition less
any principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL”). Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial
recognition and of any premium or discount to the maturity amount using the effective interest method.
Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortised
discount or premium (including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are
included in the carrying values of the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortised
discount or premium (including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are
included in the carrying values of related items in the statement of financial position.

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying
amount.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
(excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if
appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument. The effective interest rate discounts
cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for the premium or
discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other
variables that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the whole
expected life of the instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received between
parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets — classification and subsequent measurement — measurement categories. The
Company classifies financial assets in the following measurement categories: fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”), fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and amortised cost. The
classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Company’s
business model for managing the related assets portfolio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

The Company’s financial assets are measured at amortised cost and include short-term financial
investments, trade receivables and other financial receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets: a business model. The business model
reflects the way the Company applied to manage assets for cash flow: is the goal of the company (i) only
to receive the contractual cash flows from the assets (“retaining the assets to get the contractual cash
flows™), or (ii) contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets (“retention of assets
to obtain contractual cash flows”), or, if either paragraph (i) or paragraph does not apply t (ii), financial
assets are classified as "other" business models and measured at FVTPL.
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4. PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

A business model is defined for a group of assets (at the portfolio level) on the basis of all relevant
evidence of the activities that the Company intends to carry out in order to achieve the goal set for the
portfolio at the valuation date. The factors taken into account by the Company in determining the business
model include the purpose and composition of the portfolio, past experience in obtaining cash flows for
the respective assets, approaches to risk assessment and management, methods for assessing the
profitability of assets and the scheme of payments to managers.

Financial assets — classification and subsequent measurement — cash flow characteristics. Where the
business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to hold contractual cash flows and

sell, the Company assesses whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”).

If the terms of the contract provide for exposure to risk or volatility that does not match the terms of the
underlying loan agreement, the relevant financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL. The SPPI
assessment is performed on initial recognition of an asset and it is not subsequently reassessed.

Financial assets — reclassification. Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model
for managing the portfolio as a whole changes. The reclassification has a prospective effect and takes
place from the beginning of the first reporting period that follows after the change in the business model.
The Company did not change its business model during the current and comparative period and did not
make any reclassifications.

Financial assets impairment — credit loss allowance for ECL. The Company assesses, on a forward-
looking basis, the ECL for debt instruments measured at amortised cost and FVTOCI for the exposures
arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Company measures ECL and
recognises net impairment losses on financial and contract assets at each reporting date. The measurement
of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range
of possible outcomes, (ii) time value of money and (iii) all reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost and effort at the end of each reporting period about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future conditions.

The Company applies a three stage model for impairment, based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage
1. Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL
that results from default events possible within the next 12 months or until contractual maturity, if shorter
(“12 Months ECL”). If the Company identifies a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial
recognition, the asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL on a lifetime basis,
that is, up until contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any (“Lifetime ECL”).
Refer to Note 28 for a description of how the Company determines when a SICR has occurred. If the
Company determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred to Stage 3 and its
ECL is measured as a Lifetime ECL. The Company’s definition of credit impaired assets and definition of
default is explained in Note 28. For financial assets that are purchased or originated credit-impaired
(“POCI Assets”), the ECL is always measured as a Lifetime ECL. Note 28 provides information about
inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL, including an explanation of how
the Company incorporates forward-looking information in the ECL models.
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4.  PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

Financial assets - derecognition. The Company derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets are
redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets otherwise expire or (b) the Company has transferred
the rights to the cash flows from the financial assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through
arrangement whilst (i) also transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets
or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership but not
retaining control. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset
in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale.

Financial liabilities — measurement categories. Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, cxcept for (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to
derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in securities), contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination and other financial liabilities
designated as such at initial recognition and (ii) financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

The Company's financial liabilities are represented by the category “financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost” and include trade payables and lease liabilities.

Financial liabilities — derecognition. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished
(i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

Offsetting financial instruments. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. Such a right of set off (a) must not be contingent on a future event and (b) must
be legally enforceable in all of the following circumstances: (i) in the normal course of business, (ii) in
the event of default and (iii) in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are
carried at amortised cost because: (i) they are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash
flows represent SPPI, and (ii) they are not designated at FVTPL. Features mandated solely by legislation,
such as the bail-in legislation in certain countries, do not have an impact on the SPPI test, unless they are
included in contractual terms such that the feature would apply even if the legislation is subsequently
changed. Restricted balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash
flow statement. Balances restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period are included in other non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty has performed its obligations under the contract. Trade

payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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4, PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)
Value added tax

Value added tax (“VAT”) related to sales is payable to tax authorities when goods are shipped or services
are rendered. Input VAT is reclaimable against output VAT upon receipt of a tax invoice from a supplier.
The tax legislation permits the settlement of VAT on a net basis. Accordingly, VAT related to sales and
purchases, which have not been settled at the statement of financial position date is recognised in the
statement of financial position on a net basis.

Right-of-use assets

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the date the lease begins (that is, at the date when the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for revaluation of lease obligations. The value of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of recognised lease obligations, initial direct expenses incurred and
rental payments made as of the date or before the start of the lease date, less any lease exemptions
received. If the Company is not confident enough in obtaining ownership of the leased asset at the end of
the lease term, then recognised assets in the form of right to use are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the shortest estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are generally subject to
impairment.

Lease obligations

At the lease commencement date, the Company recognises lease obligations that are measured at the
present value of the lease payments that must be made during the lease term. Rental payments include
fixed payments (including fixed payments on the merits) less any rental incentives to be received,
variable rental payments that depend on the index or rate, and amounts that are expected to be paid
against residual value guarantees. Lease payments also include the exercise price of the purchase option
reasonably determined for execution by the Company and the payment of fines for terminating the lease
agreement, if the lease term reflects the Company's option to terminate the lease agreement. Variable
rental payments that are independent of the index or rate are recognised as expenses in the period in
which the event or condition initiates the payment.

When calculating the present value of rental payments, the Company uses the rate of raising additional
borrowed funds at the date of commencement of the lease if the interest rate implicit in the lease
agreement cannot be easily determined. After initial recognition, lease liabilities are adjusted by
capitalising the cost of discounting and reducing rental payments. In addition, the book value of lease
obligations is revalued if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in fixed lease
payments or a change in estimate for the purchase of the underlying asset.

Since IFRS 16 contains essentially the same accounting requirements for a lessor as IAS 17, the Company
does not expect any significant impact on its financial statements in connection with the reflection of
transactions relating to the activities of the Company as a lessor.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's activities are related to the transportation of oil through main pipelines in the territory of
the Republic of Kazakhstan. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the
services is transferred to the customer and is measured at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for such services. The Company has concluded
that, as a rule, it acts as the principal in the contracts it has entered into, since the Company controls the
services before they are transferred to the customer.
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4. PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

The Company recognises revenue from the provision of oil transportation services based on the actual
volumes of services rendered during the transportation period.

(i) Variable consideration

In contracts with customers, there is no variable part of the reimbursement, due to the absence of
discounts, loans, price concessions, incentives, performance bonuses or other similar items.

(ii) Significant financing component

Typically, the Company receives short-term advance payments from customers. As a result of using the
practical expedient in IRS 15, the Company does not adjust the promised consideration for the impact of
a significant financing component if, at inception of the contract, it expects that the period between the
transfer of the promised good or service to the customer and the customer's payment date for the good or
services will be no more than one year.

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions for liabilities and charges are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be insignificant.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

Income tax

Income taxes have been provided for in the financial statements in accordance with Kazakhstani
legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. The income tax charge comprises
current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income unless it relates
to transactions that are recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect of
taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxes other than income tax are recorded within
operating expenses.

Taxable profits or losses are based on estimates if financial statements are authorised prior to filing
relevant tax returns. Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss
carry forwards and temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption,
deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in
a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit.
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4. PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period, which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or
the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised. Deferred tax assets in respect of reducing the taxable base of
temporary differences and tax losses incurred for future periods are recognised only when there is a
sufficient likelihood of future taxable profit, which can be reduced by the amount of such deductions.

Uncertain tax positions

The Company's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at the end of each reporting period.
Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by management as more likely than
not to result in additional taxes being levied if the positions of Company were to be challenged by the tax
authorities. The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and any known court or other rulings on such
issues. Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than income tax are recognised based on
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the end of the
reporting period.

Foreign currency transactions

The Company’s monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
translated into Tenge at the official exchange rate of the JSC “Kazakhstan Stock Exchange”(KASE) at the
reporting date. Foreign currency transactions are accounted for using the exchange rate of the
JSC “Kazakhstan Stock Exchange” (KASE) at the dates of transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses arising as of the settlement date on these transactions, as well as resulting from the restatement of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are recorded within profit and loss.

As of 31 December 2021 the official exchange rate used for revaluating foreign currency balances was
Tenge 431.80 for USD 1 (31 December 2020: Tenge 420.91 for USD 1). Exchange restrictions and
currency controls exist relating to converting Tenge into other currencies. Currently, Tenge is not freely
convertible in most countries outside of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Charter capital

Assets contributed to charter capital are recognised at fair value at the time of contribution. The amount
of any excess of the fair value of the funds received over the nominal value of the contribution to the
charter capital at the time of its legal registration is credited directly to the capital under the heading
“share premium”.

Dividends

Dividends are recorded as a liability and deducted from equity at the end of reporting period only if they
are declared before or at the reporting date inclusively. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed
before the reporting date or proposed or declared after the reporting date but before the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Employee benefits
Wages, salaries, contributions to pension funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and other

benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the
Company.
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4. PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

In accordance with the legal requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Company withholds
pension contributions from employees’ salaries and transfers them into state pension fund. As pension
contributions transferred, the Company does not have further pension obligations. Upon retirement of
employees, all pension payments are administered by such pension fund directly.

Oil for filling pipeline

In order to realise permanent process of oil extracting and according to technical agreement on intake,
transportation and oil custody to related contract on providing service for transportation of 0il, main oil
pipeline “Kenkiyak-Atyrau” is fulfilled by oil of service consumers of Company. The Company bears full
responsibility for the safety of this oil and will return it to owners, if pipeline is decommissioned or at the
end of validity periods of transportation contracts.

The Company does not record an asset or liability on this filled oil as of reporting date.
Positive or negative unbalance

According to the Preliminary national standard of the Republic of Kazakhstan "Main oil pipelines. The
Instruction for the calculation of oil» PST RK 43-2015, the Company on a monthly basis conducts an
inventory of oil by mass in the oil pipeline. The weight of oil in the linear part of the oil pipeline is
determined by the product of the oil volume in the pipeline at the values of the average density, using the
temperature and pressure factors (hereinafter referred to as "inventory data"). The calculation is made for
individual sites of technological oil pipeline; results obtained are summed and rounded up to a whole
number.

In addition, the Company on monthly basis estimates transportation volumes for the current month with
consignors (the “estimates™). This estimate contains information in metric tons on oil balance as of month
beginning, oil receipt and delivery volume, oil losses and balance as of month end.

Any difference between estimates and inventory data forms positive or negative oil unbalance. The
Company does not recognise positive and negative unbalance in financial statements.

Related parties

Related parties include the Company’s shareholders, key management personnel and entities wherein the
shareholders or key management personnel of the Company have an interest that ensures significant
influence on such entities.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and
judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of
applying the accounting policies.

Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements

and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year include:
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Useful life of property, plant and equipment

Assessment of useful lives of property, plant and equipment is subject to judgement based on the
management’s experience of using similar assets. Future economic benefits from assets are mainly gained
through their usage. Nevertheless, other factors such as technical and commercial obsolescence often lead
to decrease of economic benefits to be derived from the assets. Management assesses the remaining
useful life of the assets based on their current technical conditions and expected period during which
these assets will bring such benefits to the Company. The following key factors should be considered: (a)
expected use of assets; (b) estimated wear and tear, which depends on operational factors and operational
programs; (c) technical and commercial obsolescence as a result of changes in market conditions.

If the estimated useful live of assets differed by 10% from management's estimates, depreciation charges
for the year would increase by Tenge 429.590 thousand or decrease by Tenge 351.483 thousand for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: increase by Tenge 395,028 thousand / decrease by Tenge 323,205
thousand).

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

The Company’s property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value based on the reports provided by an
independent appraisal company the “AAP — Advisory and Research” LLP, as at 31 October 2018 with
relevant professional qualification and recent experience in the valuation of similar property within the
similar territory. Fair value was determined in accordance with the current legislation of the Republic of
Kazakhstan, Valuation Standards of International Valuation Standards Committee.

Due to the specifics of property, plant and equipment its fair value is estimated based on the various
valuation methods that are most appropriate in each particular case.

Thus, the following methods were selected to estimate fair value:

¢ Land plots — using the residual replacement cost method,
¢ Buildings and constructions — depreciated replacement cost method;

e Specialised property (property, for which the active market does not exist or is limited) — depreciated
replacement cost method;

e Assets having a secondary market (vehicles) — sales comparison approach.
The fair value levels are categorised as follows:

* Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets in active markets (Level 1);

* Data other than quotes included in Level 1, from observable markets for assets both directly (that is,
prices) and indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2);

e Data on assets from non-observed markets (i.e. non-observed data) (Level 3).
The fair value of assets has been estimated as follows:

The fair value of Level 2 of the assets, for which there is an active market, was determined using the
market approach based on comparable market transactions adjusted accordingly for differences.

The fair value of Level 3 of these assets, for which a limited number of similar sales was observed in
local market, was determined using the cost approach based on the residual replacement cost or
reproduction cost. The amortised replacement or reproduction cost was estimated using the following
methods:
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) The method of enlarged generalised indicators of the cost of substitution/reproduction. According to
this method, the substitution/reproduction cost is calculated as a physical parameter (length, area,
volume) multiplied by the substitution/reproduction cost per unit, which is determined based on the
data from the “KO-Invest” directory, adjusted accordingly for differences.

(ii) Direct recalculation method. In accordance with this method, replacement/reproduction cost is
estimated based on the producer’s price plus transportation costs, design, installation and all other
necessary expenses.

(iii) Initial cost indexation. This method has been applied in those cases, when there was authentic
information for using the method of generalised indicators of replacement/reproduction cost and
direct recalculation method. The initial cost was adjusted for current prices using inflation rates
effective during the period from the asset acquisition date to the valuation date published by
Statistics Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

For the calculation of the fair value of assets, estimated using the cost approach, an appraiser assessed
their recoverability through the discounted cash flows method. For these purposes, all of the Company's
assets were combined into one cash-generating unit, for which future cash flows were analysed to
determine the value from the use of these assets. In assessing value in use, future cash flows were
discounted at a pre-tax discount rate that reflected market valuation of the time value of money and the
risks inherent to the Company at the date of the revaluation.

Comparing the results of the cost method and the cost of discounted cash flow calculated in the
framework of the income approach to valuation, management concluded that at the revaluation date the
Company's property, plant and equipment are subject to additional economic impairment. Thus, the value
of the property determined according to the cost method was reduced to Tenge 24.475.166 thousand as of
31 October 2018.

As stated in the section in “Impairment of property, plant and equipment”, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment approximates the fair value at the reporting date.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Company checks the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment to identify impairment
indicators of such assets. The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and other non-financial
assets is tested for impairment in case any indicators identified that the carrying value of the assets may
not be recoverable.

When conducting an impairment test, the recoverable amount is determined as the higher of an asset’s
value in use (i.e. the net present value of the discounted forecasted cash flows for the corresponding cash
generative unit) and fair value net of the cost to sell (the amount that can be redeemed as a result of
selling the asset or a cash generating unit in an arms length transactions entered voluntarily by
knowledgeable non-related parties, less the cost of disposal). Where there is no binding sale and purchase
agreement or active market, fair value less costs to sell is based on the best information available to
reflect the amount the Company could receive for the cash generating unit in an arm’s length transaction.

A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or assets groups. For the purpose of the analysis
of impairment indicators and in case impairment test is required, management concluded that all groups
of fixed assets is separate cash generating unit.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The estimates used for impairment reviews are based on approved budgets, forecasted volumes of oil
transported and forecasted tariffs, modified as appropriate to meet the requirements of IAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”. Future cash flows are based on:

° forecasted volumes of the oil transported;
o forecasted tariff on export and domestic markets, and
° future costs of production, capital expenditures and operating expenses.

The Company is implementing the project “Increasing the capacity of the Kazakhstan-China oil pipeline
(hereinafter referred to as the “Reverse project”), with an increase in the carrying capacity in the reverse
direction up to 6 million tons. The project was approved by Samruk-Kazyna National Welfare Fund JSC
on 10 July 2018. According to the calculations, this project will require investments in the amount of
approximately Tenge 30.9 billion as per the last decision of the Investment Committee of JSC
"KazTransOil" dated 5 February 2021 No. 1/21.

Due to the fact that the authorised body in September 2020 refused to consider the application for a new
tariff, assuming application of the incentive method for calculating the tariff for the domestic market, as
well as the projected increase in the cost of the investment project, the management assessed the
impairment of fixed assets as of 31 December 2021.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment was determined using the value in use method.
Value in use was determined based on the amount of discounted future cash flows. In this calculation, we
used cash flow forecasts hased on the strategic planning models of the Company and operating budgets
approved by management. Key assumptions that significantly affect projected cash flows include:

e The forecast period - until the year 2037, based on the lifetime of the pipeline.

o The forecast volumes of oil to be transported from 2022 to 2026 are determined according to the
letter #20-06/6291 received from “KazTransOil” dd. 16 September 2021, with extrapolation of the
transportation volumes of the last forecasted year to the whole calculation horizon - up to year 2037.
The management of the Company also determined that starting from 2027 approximately 79 percent
of transportation volumes will be directed to the domestic market.

e Forecast of tariff to domestic market. The level of profit for the forecasted period from 2022-2026
was determined assuming the planned investment, subject to approval with the authorised body. At
the reporting date, there is uncertainty regarding the methodology for calculating the tariff starting
from 2027, due to the ambiguity of its calculation in the absence of an investment program.
Therefore, when determining the level of tariffs from 2027, an assumption was made in the rate of
return, which affects the level of the tariff in the post-forecast period. The profit level was determined
in the amount of 15.14% (similar to the estimated weighted average cost of capital) of all operating
costs of the Company and assuming current market conditions. This assumption was made in order to
comply with the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan "On Natural Monopolies", according to which,
the tariff must ensure reimbursement of costs for the provision of regulated services and profit,
directed to the development and effective functioning of the subject of natural monopolies and other
purposes not prohibited by the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
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e Also, to calculate the tariff for the domestic market in the post-forecast period, the Company included
all costs, taking into account the importance of the Reverse Project for increasing export capacity
(increasing the volume of oil exports to China) and ensuring the technical possibility of supplying
West Kazakhstan oil to the domestic market (ensuring the loading of Pavlodar and Shymkent oil
refineries with oil supplies from the Western Region of the Republic of Kazakhstan) within the
framework of ensuring the energy security of Kazakhstan.

e Forecast of tariff for export. The export tariff was calculated in accordance with the Company's
approved internal methodology, investment program, forecasted operational costs and working capital
turnover. As a result of the incurred capital expenditures, a significant increase in the forecasted
tariffs is expected for the domestic and export markets.

e Discount rate. Cash flows were discounted using a post-tax interest rate of 15.14% per annum (pre-
tax interest rate is 17.4%), which was based on the weighted average cost of capital of the Company.

As a result of such assessment, management concluded that the recoverable amount of the assets of this
cash generating unit is higher than their carrying amount as at 31 December 2021.

Management believes that, as at 31 December 2021, the estimate of future cash flows based on the above
judgments reflects fair and reasonable assumptions and represents the Company's best estimate.

As at the reporting date, management has concluded that there are no facts that would indicate that the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment differs significantly from their fair value.

Below is a sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2021 showing the amounts of possible impairment at
various levels of the most significant assumptions (all other variables held constant) as they deviate from

the values used in forecasting cash flows:

Impairment loss

Change in the ratio of the volumes to be transported between the domestic
market and export since 2027 (90% and 10%, respectively)

Change in volume (-10%) (6.357.760)
Tariff change (-5%) (1.633.392)
Change in discount rate (+ 5%) (8.201.687)

Provision for asset retirement obligation

In accordance with the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On the magistral pipeline”, which entered
into force on 4 July 2012 the Company has a legal obligation to liquidate the magistral pipeline (oil
pipeline) after the end of operation and to undertake subsequent implementation measures to restore the
environment, including land restoration. Land remediation measures are carried out when replacing of
pipeline is performed at the end of its useful life.

Provision for asset retirement obligation is estimated based on the cost calculated by the Company for

dismantling works and land reclamation in accordance with the technical rules and regulations in force in
the Republic of Kazakhstan.
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The amount of reserves was determined at the end of the reporting period using the projected inflation
rate for the expected term of the obligation and the discount rate at the end of the reporting period,

presented below:

The “Kenkiyak-Atyrau” oil pipeline:

2021 2020
Discount rate 6.74% 6.71%
Inflation rate 5.50% 5.50%
Term of execution of the obligation on the Kenkiyak-Atyrau pipeline 16 et 17 net

The calculation of the discount rate is based on risk-free rates of US government bonds adjusted for the
long-term inflation rate and country risk.

As at 31 December 2021 the carrying amount of the reserve for asset retirement obligation amounted to
Tenge 2.005.298 thousand (as at 31 December 2020: Tenge 1.856.415 thousand) (Note 15).

Estimates of the cost of rectifying damage are subject to potential changes in environmental requirements
and interpretations of legislation. In addition, uncertainties in estimates of such costs include potential
changes in alternatives, methods for eliminating and restoring breached lands, levels of discount and
inflation rates and the period during which this obligation occurs.

The sensitivity analysis of asset retirement obligation for changes in significant assumptions as of
31 December 2021 is presented as follows:

(Decrease)/ Increase/

increase (decrease) of

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge of rate obligation
-0.5% 162.545
Discount rate +0.5% (134.963)
-0.5% (120.995)

Inflation rate +0.5% 182.142
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

On 30 March 2018 the Company received the positive conclusion No. 01-0119/18 on the construction of
the project "Increasing the capacity of the Kazakhstan-China oil pipeline up to 6 million tons per year"
(hereinafter referred to as the "Reverse Project") from the Republican State Enterprise "State out of
departmental examination of projects" of the Committee on Construction and Housing utility of the
Ministry of Investments and Development of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Also, the construction of the
project was approved by the investment committees of KazTransOil JSC on 25 April 2018, National
Company KazMunayGas JSC on 12 June 2018 and National Welfare Fund Samruk-Kazyna JSC on 10
July 2018. On 18 October 2018, representatives of both participants of the Company approved the
adjusted business plan for five years, taking into account the capital expenditures under the Reverse
Project. In June 2020, the Company commissioned the first stage of the Reverse Project of the Kenkiyak-
Atyrau oil pipeline section for a total cost of Tenge 8.391.443 thousand. On 30 June 2021 the Company
put into operation technological part of the second stage of the Reverse Project of the Kenkiyak-Atyrau
oil pipeline for the total amount of Tenge 12.245.943 thousand. On 29 October 2021 the Company put
into operation technological part of the third stage of the Reverse Project of the Kenkiyak-Atyrau oil
pipeline for the total amount of Tenge 2.364.659 thousand.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Company had no any restrictions on use of its
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation charge is allocated to the following items:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2020 2019
Cost of services 2.642.051 1.868.002
General and administrative expenses 22.456 24.390
Total 2.664.507 1.892.392

7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Building Vehicles Total

Residual value at 31 December 2020 97.298 282.929 380.227
Cost at 31 December 2020 281.166 557.843 839.009
Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2020 (183.868) (274.914) (458.782)
Charged for the period

(96.380) (135.452) (231.832)
Residual value at 31 December 2021 918 147477 148.395
Cost at 31 December 2021 281.166 557.843 839.009
Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2021 (280.248) (410.366) (690.614)
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

8. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

In thousands Kazakhstani Tenge

Advances given for property, plant and equipment
Emergency inventory stock

Total

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge
Cash on bank deposits with maturity less than three months, in Tenge

Cash on bank accounts, in Tenge
Expected credit loss allowance

Total

31 December

31 December

2021 2020
401.415 288.407
470.767 248.835
872.182 537.242
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
7.265.500 8.654.000
16.453 33,782

(94) (300)
7.281.859 8.687.482

Cash on bank deposits have maturities of less than three months as at opening date.

The table below presents the analysis of the credit quality of cash and cash equivalents based on the levels
of credit risk as at 31 December 2021. Description of the Company's credit risk classification policy is

presented in Note 28.
Cash on bank
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge deposits
- Perfect level -
- Good level 7.265.406
Total cash and cash equivalents, excluding cash on
hand 7.265.406

Cash on bank
_accounts

1.581
14.872

16.453

Total_

1.581
7.280.278

7.281.859

The table below presents the analysis of the credit quality of cash and cash equivalents based on the levels

of credit risk as at 31 December 2020.

Cash on bank Cash on bank
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge deposits accounts Total
- Perfect level - 2.245 2.245
- Good level 8.653.700 31.144 8.684.844
- Requires special monitoring - 393 393
Total cash and cash equivalents, excluding cash on
hand 8.653.700 33.782 8.687.482
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

10. SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Short-term financial investments represent cash on a bank deposit with Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC
for a term of more than three months, with an effective rate of 0.2% per annum and denominated in US

Dollars, without the right to partial withdrawal and replenishment.

B meotcavax kasaxcmancrkux menze

- Good level

Total short-term financial investments

11. INVENTORY

In thousands Kazakhstani Tenge
Spare parts

Other reserves
Provision for illiquid reserves

Total

12. OTHER RECEIVABLES

In thousands Kazakhstani Tenge

VAT receivable
Other current assets

Total

31 December

31 December

2021 2020

Cash on bank Cash on bank

deposits deposits
5.643.898 5.484.575

5.643.898 5.484.575

31 December

31 December

2021 2020

67.488 32.812
466.349 151.338

- (12.199)

533.837 171.951

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
1.232.484 1.333.740
94.459 38.148
1.326.943 1.371.888

Management believes that VAT receivable will be utilised against future VAT liabilities in the

subsequent period.
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

13. CHARTER CAPITAL

Presented below is the participants® structure of the Company at 31 December 2021 and at 31 December
2020:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
B In thousands Ownership Ownership Paid
Kazakhstani Tenge percentage Paid capital percentage capital
KazTransQil 51% 5.124.786 51% 5.124.786
CNPC E&D 49% 4.923.814 49% 4.923.814
Total 100% 10.048.600 100% 10.048.600

14. REVALUATION RESERVE

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Amount at the beginning of the year 8.125.664 8.924.952
Revaluatioon of property, plant and equipment

Changes in estimates of provision for asset retirement obligation (23.592) (421.303)
Deferred tax liabilities 4.724 84.261
Reclassification to retained earnings (427.264) {462.246)
Amount at the end of the year 7.679.532 8.125.664

15.  PROVISION FOR ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
At 1 January 1.856.415 1.344.872
Change in estimates for the period 23.592 421.303
Amortisation of discount for the period 125.291 90.240
At 31 December 2.005.298 1.856.415

In accordance with Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Main Pipeline” No. 21-V dated
22 June 2012, the Company is under a legal obligation to dismantle and liquidate the pipeline, as well as
to restore the land. As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Company made best estimation
of asset retirement obligation and recognised liabilities in the statement of financial position.

16. TRADE PAYABLES

31 December 31 December
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Trade payables to related parties (Note 26) 213.724 174.750
Trade payables to third parties 264.204 671.793
Total 477.928 846.543

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, trade payables of the Company are expressed in
Kazakhstani Tenge.
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

17. ADVANCES RECEIVED

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

Advances received from related parties (Note 26) — contract liabilities
Advances received from third parties - contract liabilities

Total

18. LEASE LIABILITIES

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

Short-term liabilities
Long-term liabilities

Total

31 December

31 December

2021 2020

964.371 609.965
302.842 219.064
1.267.213 829.029

31 December 31 December
2021 2020

227.172 277.478

- 187.064

227.172 464.542

For the vear ended 31 December

2021 2020
At 1 January 464.542 564.520
Modification - 106.186
Unwinding of discount 32.814 62.014
Payments for the period (270.184) (268.178)
At 31 December 227.172 464.542

The following is information on the expenses recognised in the income statement:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020
Amortisation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) 231.832 231.831
Unwinding of discount 32.814 62.014
Total 264.646 293.845
19. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Revenues from related parties 7.504.845 5.668.435
Revenues from third parties 2.701.255 1.833.005
Total 10.206.100 7.501.440
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Revenue from oil transportation services to domestic market 6.716.815 3.918.631
Revenue from oil transportation services to export market 3.489.285 3.582.809
Total 10.206.100 7.501.440
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

19. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)

Revenue from external customers for each group of similar products or services is shown in the table
below:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Geographical regions

Kazakhstan 10.206.100 7.501.440
Total revenue from contracts with customers 10.206.100 7.501.440

Revenue recognition terms
Services are provided during the period 10.206.100 7.501.440
Total revenue from contracts with customers 10.206.100 7.501.440

Revenue from contracts with customers

In the current reporting period, revenue was recognised in the amount of 829.029 thousand tenge (2020:
857.760 thousand tenge) which is included to liabilities under contracts with customers (Note 17).

20. COST OF SERVICES

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Depreciation and amortisation 2.679.967 1.904.394
Pipeline maintenance 1.904.026 1.495.447
Property tax 496.782 377.173
Security services 369.207 300.254
Payroll and related taxes 266.171 233.121
Fuel, energy in the process of production 115.397 -
Maintenance of communication equipment 101.624 78.367
Insurance of pipeline 80.892 72.809
Air patrol of pipeline 39.002 34.363
Materials 19.638 9.014
Other 394.006 292.697
Total 6.466.712 4.797.639

21. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Payroll and related taxes 943.500 897.385
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 181.714 181.714
Depreciation and amortisation 45.167 39.393
Consulting services expenses 42.767 33.378
Operating rent expenses 31.504 31.504
Business trip expenses 16.930 16.883
Security services 9.625 14.331
Entertainment expense 9.000 2.826
Other 154.754 117.727
Total 1.434.961 1.335.141
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

22, INTEREST INCOME

Interest income represents accrued interest on deposits for the years 2021 and 2020.

23. FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

Foreign exchange gains and losses represent net gain/(loss) from revaluation of short-term financial assets
and cash and cash equivalents denominated in US dollars. During 2021, the national currency of the
Republic of Kazakhstan devalued against the US dollar by approximately 3% compared to the beginning

of the year.

24, OTHER INCOME

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Other 82.762 112.652
Rental income 29.098 29.336
Fines, penalties 373 439.342
Total 112.236 581.330
25. INCOME TAX
Income tax expense includes the following:
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Current income tax expense 680.618 792.246
Deferred income tax benefit (61.557) (182.290)
Income tax expense 619.061 609.956

Income tax for the year ended 31 December 2021 was assessed at the annual average effective rate of

20 percent (for the year ended 31 December 2020: 20 percent).

Reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 2020
Profit before tax 2.932.998 3.038.181
Effective tax rate 20% 20%
Expected charge at rate of 20% 586.600 607.636
Non-deductible expenses/(non-taxable income) 32.461 2.320
Income tax expense for the year 619.061 609.956

Net deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences between tax accounting in the Republic of

Kazakhstan and accounting in accordance with IFRS are presented as follows:
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

25. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Recognised in

Recognised other
1 January in profit or comprehensive 31 December
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2021 loss income 2021
Tax effect of temporary
differences:
Provision for asset retirement
obligation 371.283 25.053 4.724 401.060
Provision for unused vacation 45.542 (595) = 44.947
Impairment provision for
construction in progress 40.929 - = 40.929
Lease liabilities 92.908 (47.474) 45.434
Provision for slow-moving
inventory 2.440 (2.440) - -
Other 5.731 (4.305) - 1.426
Gross deferred tax assets 558.833 (29.761) 4,724 533.796
Deferred tax liabilities from:
Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (3.891.182) 44952 = (3.846.230)
Right-of-use assets (76.045) 46.366 - (29.679)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (3.967.227) 91.318 B (3.875.909)
Less: offset against deferred tax
assets 558.833 (29.761) 4.724 533.796
Net deferred tax (liabilities)/assets (3.408.394) 61.557 4.724 (3.342.113)
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

25. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Recognised in

Recognised other
1 January in profit or comprehensive 31 December
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2020 loss income 2020
Tax effect of temporary
differences:
Provision for asset retirement
obligation 268.974 18.048 84.261 371.283
Provision for unused vacation 33.178 12.364 - 45.542
Impairment provision for
construction in progress 40.929 - - 40.929
Lease liabilities 112,904 (19.996) - 92.908
Provision for slow-moving
inventory 3412 972) - 2.440
Other 0.486 (3.755) - 5.731
Gross deferred tax assets 468.883 5.689 84.261 558.833
Deferred tax liabilities from:
Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (4.042.654) 151.472 - (3.891.182)
Right-of-use assets (101.174) 25.129 - (76.045)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (4.143.828) 176.601 - (3.967.227)
Less: offset against deferred tax
assets 468.883 5.689 84.261 558.833
Net deferred tax (liabilities)/assets (3.674.945) 182.290 84.261 (3.408.394)

26. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The related parties include Company’s participants, affiliates or companies over which the Company or
its participants have a significant influence, and key management personnel.

The nature of relations with those related parties with whom the Company entered into significant
transactions or had significant balances outstanding at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is presented below.

Trade accounts payable to related parties were as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Nature of relations 2021 2020

KazTransOil JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 213.724 150.063
KMG Security LLP Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna - 24.687
Total 213.724 174.750
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

26. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

Outstanding balances on advances received from related parties were as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Nature of relations 2021 2020
Mangistaumunaigas JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 552.549 359.534
CNPC Aktobemunaigas JSC  Company under control of CNPC 94.283 137.789
Kazakhturkmunai LLP Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 24752 17.797
Embamunaigas JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 228.132 84.701
Jointly controlled company of

Kazakhoil Aktobe LLP Samruk-Kazyna 64.655 10.144
Total 964.371 609.965
Trade transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December were as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Nature of relations 2021 2020
Transportation services:

CNPC Aktobemunaigas JSC  Company under control of CNPC 1.779.047 1.871.332
Mangistaumunaigas JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 4.347.403 2.384.307
Kazakhturkmunai LLP Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 113.047 209.855

Jointly controlled company of Samruk-

Kazakhoil Aktobe LLP Kazyna 347.349 273.649
Embamunaigas JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 917.999 928.324
KazTransOil JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna - 968
Rental of FOL:

KazTransOil JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 29.098 29.336
Total 7.533.943 5.697.771
Purchase transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December were as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Nature of relations 2021 2020
Pipeline maintenance:

KazTransOil JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 1.904.026 1.495.447
Security services:

KMG Security LLP Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna - 260.586
Other services:

Samruk-Kazyna Contract LLP Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 12.147 12.147
KazTransOil JSC Company under control of Samruk-Kazyna 5.022 4.665
Total 1.921.195 1.772.845
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MUNAITAS LLP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

26. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
Terms and conditions of related party transactions

The outstanding balances at the end of the year do not have collateral and settlements are performed in
cash. No warranties have been provided or received with regards to trade receivables from related parties.

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel consist of the Company’s management, which comprised 4 persons as of
31 December 2021 (2020: 4 persons). The total compensation to key management personnel which is
included in general and administrative expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income was Tenge 138.701 thousand for the year 2021 (2020: Tenge 83.139 thousand). Compensation
payable to key management personnel for fulfilment of their executive management functions consists of
contractual salary, bonuses, vacation payments and financial aid.

27. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
Political and economic situation in Kazakhstan

In general, the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan continues to display characteristics of an
emerging market. Its economy is particularly sensitive to prices on oil and gas prices. These
characteristics include, but are not limited to, the existence of national currency that is not freely
convertible outside of the country and a low level of liquidity of debt and equity securities in
the markets. Ongoing political tension in the region, volatility of exchange rate have caused and may
continue to cause negative impact on the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan, including decrease in
liquidity and creation of difficulties in attracting of international financing.

On 20 August 2015 the National Bank and the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan made a
resolution about discontinuation of supporting the exchange rate of Tenge and implement of new
monetary policy, which is based on inflation targeting regime, cancellation of exchange rate trading band
and start a free floating exchange rate. However, the National Bank's exchange rate policy allows it to
intervene to prevent dramatic fluctuations of the Tenge exchange rate and to ensure financial stability.

As at the date of this report the official exchange rate of the National Bank of the Republic Kazakhstan
was Tenge 433.76 per USD 1, compared to Tenge 431.80 per USD 1 compared to Tenge 420.91 per US
Dollar 1 as at 31 December 2020. Therefore, uncertainty remains in relation to exchange rate of Tenge
and future action of National Bank and the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the impact of
these factors on the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

In September 2021 S&P Global Ratings, international rating agency affirmed the sovereign credit rating
of Kazakhstan of “BBB-”. The outlook on sovereign credit rating is stable. The stable outlook is
supported by the government's strong balance sheet, built on past budgetary surpluses accumulated in the
National Fund of the Republic of Kazakhstan, low government debt, total volume of which will not
exceed the external liquid assets of the state within two years, as well as measures implemented by the
Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan aimed at controlling the negative consequences of the
pandemic on the economy.

Low oil prices, decrease in its production due to the OPEC agreement and the impact of COVID-19
containment measures have adversely affected the economy of Kazakhstan in 2020, but economic growth
is projected to recover in 2022, which will average to approximately 3.6% in 2021 -2024.

This operating environment has a significant impact on the Company’s operations and financial position.
Management is taking necessary measures to ensure sustainability of the Company’s operations.
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However, the future effects of the current economic situation are difficult to predict and management’s
current expectations and estimates could differ from actual results.

Additionally, oil and gas sector in the Republic of Kazakhstan is still impacted by political, legislative,
fiscal and regulatory developments. The prospects for future economic stability in the Republic of
Kazakhstan are largely dependent upon the effectiveness of economic measures undertaken by the
Government, together with legal, controlling and political developments, which are beyond the
Company’s control.

For the purpose of measurement of ECL the Company uses supportable forward-looking information,
including forecasts of macroeconomic variables. As with any economic forecast, however, the projections
and likelihoods of their occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty and therefore the
actual outcomes may be significantly different from those projected.

In December 2019, news from China about the outbreak of a new virus first appeared. On 11 March 2020,
the World Health Organization announced an outbreak of a new type of coronavirus, COVIDI19, as a
pandemic. In response to the pandemic, Kazakh authorities have taken a range of measures to contain the
spread and mitigate the impact of COVID-19, such as travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, self-
isolation, and restrictions on commercial activities, including business closures. Some of the above
measures were subsequently relaxed. The Company's activities for the period of quarantine were not
suspended, the work of office employees was organized remotely.

COVID-19 epidemic is spreading globally, having a dramatic negative effect on the entire world
economy. Management will continue to monitor the potential effect of the above events and will take all
necessary measures to prevent negative consequences for the business, however:

* the consequences of downtime/quarantine due to the COVID-19 pandemic will lead to a slowdown in
business activity in general, which may affect the Company's financial performance in the future;

* the drop in oil prices could have a negative effect on the Company's revenue, due to decrease in
production volumes, and accordingly in oil transportation volumes;

* as part of new agreements between OPEC members and other oil-producing countries, Kazakhstan
and Russia have committed to cut production levels, which may lead to a decrease in oil
transportation;

« further depreciation of Tenge against the US dollar may lead to increase of cost for purchased
equipment, goods and services from foreign suppliers.

Management is unable to predict the extent or duration of changes in the Kazakhstani economy or
evaluate their possible impact on the financial position of the Company in the future. Management
believes that it is taking all necessary measures to maintain the sustainability and growth of the Company
in current circumstances.

In the opinion of the Company's management, this event related to the outbreak of the virus does not have
a material effect on the measurement of assets and liabilities in the financial statements as of 31
December 2021.

Tax legislation

The tax environment in the Republic of Kazakhstan is subject to changes and inconsistent application and

interpretations. Non-compliance with Kazakhstani law and regulations as interpreted by the Kazakhstani
authorities may lead to the accrual of the additional taxes, penalties and interest.
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Kazakhstani tax legislation and practice is in the state of continuous development, and therefore is subject
to varying interpretations and frequent changes, which may be retroactive. In certain situations, to
determine a tax base, the tax legislation refers to IFRS provisions. In such cases, interpretation of IFRS
provisions by the Kazakhstani tax authorities may differ from accounting policies, judgments and
estimates used by the management for preparation of these financial statements, and this may result in
additional tax liabilities for the Company. Tax periods remain open to retroactive review by the
Kazakhstani tax authorities for five years.

The Company management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and the
Company’s tax positions will be sustained. In the Company’s management opinion, no material losses
will be incurred in respect of existing and potential tax claims in excess of provision that have been made
in these financial statements.

Legal proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may be subject to litigations and claims. The Company's
management believes that the final obligation, if any, arises from such litigations and claims, will not
have a material adverse effect on the future financial position or core business of the Company.

Environmental and site restoration obligations

The Company believes it is currently in compliance with all existing Republic of Kazakhstan
environmental laws and regulations. However, Kazakhstan environmental laws and regulations may
change in the future. The Company is unable to predict the timing or extent to which these environmental
laws and regulations may change. Such change, if it occurs, may require the Company to modernise
technology to meet more stringent standards.

Insurance

The Company insured workers against damage related to accidents and sudden illness, obligations of third
parties (life, health and property) and has environmental insurance in relation with its main activity. The
Company has an insurance contract for the property complex of the “Kenkiyak-Atyrau” pipeline.

Qil for pipeline filling

The Company obtained oil for the pipeline filling required for its operation from
the customers free of charge under the oil transportation contracts. The Company is fully liable for such
oil safety and shall return it to the owners in case of the pipeline decommissioning or upon expiration of
the oil transportation contracts. The Company did not record any assets or liabilities in respect to this oil
filled at the reporting date. As of 31 December 2021, oil for the pipeline filling was 89 thousand tons
(2020: 86 thousand tons).

Contractual commitments

As of 31 December 2021, the Company had contractual capital commitments totalling Tenge 983.849
thousand (2020: Tenge 4.462.621 thousand).
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In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to currency, credit and operational risks. The
Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. The Company does

not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures.

Main categories of financial instruments

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

Financial assets at amortised cost:
‘I'rade receivables

Short-term financial investments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade payables

Short-term lease liabilities

Long-term lease liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Currency risk

31 December 31 December
2021 2020

- 17.321

5.643.898 5.484.575
7.281.859 8.687.482
12.925.757 14.189.378
477.928 846.543
227.172 277.478

- 187.064

705.100 1.237.911

In respect of currency risk, management sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for
both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored on a monthly basis.

The table below summarises the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the end of

the reporting period:
At 31 December 2021 At 31 December 2020
Monetary Monetary Monetary  Monetary
In thousands of financial  financial financial financial
Kazakhstani Tenge Assets  liabilities Net position assets liabilities = Net position
5.643.898 - 5.643.898 5.484.575 - 5.484.575
US Dollars
5.643.898 - 5.643.898 5.484.575 - 5.484.575
At 31 December 2021 At 31 December 2020
In thousands of Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on
Kazakhstani Tenge profit capital profit capital
US Dollar appreciation
by [10%] (2020:
appreciation by [10] %) 451.512 451.512 438.766 438.766
US Dollar depreciation
by [10%] (2020:
depreciation by [10] %) (451.512) (451.512) (438.766) (438.766)
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial liabilities as they mature.
The Company controls the risk of insufficient cash using the current liquidity planning instrument. This
instrument is used for maturity analysis, as well as to forecast cash flows from operating activities.

For these purposes, the Company has developed a range of internal policies, aimed at establishing control
procedures for appropriate placing of temporary excess cash, invoice processing and payments, as well as
preparation of operational budgets.

The table below provides analysis of the Company’s financial liabilities by relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The fair value of the
Company’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 falls within Level 3
hierarchy. The data provided based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial statements of the
Company based on the earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay.

Carrying Contractual  Less than 1 1-2 years 2-3 years Over 3 years

In thousands of amount cash flows year
Kazakhstani Tenge

31 December 2021
Trade payables (477.928) (477.928) (477.928) = - -
Short-term lease liabilities (227.172) (232.280) (232.280) i} i
Total financial liabilities (705.100) (710.208) (710.208) -
In thousands of Carrying Contractual Less than 1
Kazakhstani Tenge amount cash flows year 1-2 years 2-3 years  Over 3 years
31 December 2020
Trade payables (846.543) (846.543) (846.543) - - N
Short-term lease liabilities (277.478) (282.460) (282.460) - _ N
Long-term lease liabilities (1 87.064) (191 _205) - (1 91 _205) a =
Other financial liabilities (20.471) (20.471) (20.471) - -
Total financial liabilities (1.331.556)  (1.340.679) (1.149.474) (191.205) - -
Credit risk

The Company exposes itself to a credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to meet an obligation.

Exposure to credit risk arises as a result of the Company’s lending and other transactions with
counterparties, giving rise to financial assets and off-balance sheet credit-related commitments.
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The Company’s maximum exposure to a credit risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets
in the statement of financial position. Financial assets which are potentially subject to a credit risk mainly
consist of cash, bank deposits and trade and other receivables. Total carrying value of cash, bank deposits
and trade and other receivables is Tenge 12.925.757 thousand and represents the maximum amount
exposed to a credit risk (2020: Tenge 14.189.378 thousand).

Management carefully manages its exposure to a credit risk. The estimation of credit risk for risk
management purposes is complex and involves the use of models, as the risk varies depending on market
conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk for a portfolio of
assets entails further estimations of the likelihood of defaults occurring, the associated loss ratios and
default correlations between counterparties.

For measuring credit risk and grading financial instruments by the amount of credit risk, the Company
applies two approaches — an Internal Risk-Based (IRB) rating system or risk grades estimated by external
international rating agencies (Standard & Poor’s - “S&P”, Fitch, Moody’s). Internal and external credit
ratings are mapped on an internally defined master scale with a specified range of probabilities of default.

Each master scale credit risk grade is assigned a specific degree of creditworthiness:

® Excellent — strong credit quality with low expected credit risk;

® Good — adequate credit quality with a moderate credit risk;

° Satisfactory — moderate credit quality with a satisfactory credit risk;

° Special monitoring — facilities that require closer monitoring and remedial management; and
o Default — facilities in which a default has occurred.

Cash is placed with financial institutions of the Republic of Kazakhstan which are considered to have
minimal risk of default at the moment of placement.
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The table below presents an analysis of financial assets by credit quality based on the S&P rating as
of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

In thousands of Kazakhstani 31 December 31 December

Tenge 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents

BB/stable/B, kzA+ Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC 7.280.278 8.684.844
Bank of China in Kazakhstan SB

Alstable/A-1 JSC* 1.581 2.245

Unrated** KazInvestBank JSC - 393

Total cash and cash

equivalents 7.281.859 8.687.482

Short-term financial

investments

BB/stable/B, kzA+ Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC 5.643.898 5.484.575

Total short-term financial
investments 5.643.898 5.484.575

Other receivables

BB/negative/B
Trade receivables Unrated - 17.321
Total financial assets 12.925.757 14.189.378

* Rating is given for the international bank. Rating for the Kazakhstani branch of the bank is unavailable.

** In accordance with the Resolution of the Management Board of the National Bank of thc Republic of Kazakhstan
dated 26 December 2016, it was resolved to cancel the license of Kazinvestbank JSC for banking and other
transactions in securities market. The Company did not create provision for the impairment of cash.

Expected credit loss (ECL) measurement

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of future cash shortfalls (i.e., the weighted
average of credit losses, with the respective risks of default occurring in a given time period used as
weights). An ECL measurement is unbiased and is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes. ECL measurement is based on four components used by the Company: Probability of Default
(“PD”), Exposure at Default (“EAD”), Loss Given Default (“LGD”) and Discount Rate.

EAD is an estimate of exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the
exposure after the reporting period, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected
drawdowns on committed facilities. The EAD on credit related commitments is estimated using Credit
Conversion Factor (“CCF”). CCF is a coefficient that shows the probability of conversion of the
committen amounts to an on-balance sheet exposure within a defined period.

PD an estimate of the likelihood of default to occur over a given time period. LGD is an estimate of the
loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that
the lender would expect to receive, including from any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage
of the EAD. The expected losses are discounted to present value at the end of the reporting period. The
discount rate represents the effective interest rate (“EIR”) for the financial instrument or an
approximation thereof.
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Expected credit losses are modelled over instrument’s lifetime period. The lifetime period is equal to the
remaining contractual period to maturity of debt instruments, adjusted for expected prepayments, if any.

Management models Lifetime ECL, that is, losses that result from all possible default events over the
remaining lifetime period of the financial instrument. The 12-month ECL, represents a portion of lifetime
ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period, or remaining lifetime period of the financial instrument if it is less than a year.

The ECLs that are estimated by management for the purposes of these financial statements are point-in-
time estimates, rather than through-the-cycle estimates that are commonly used for regulatory purposes.
The estimates consider forward looking information, that is, ECLs reflect probability weighted
development of key macroeconomic variables that have an impact on credit risk.

For purposes of measuring PD, the Company defines default as a situation when the exposure meets one
or more of the following criteria:

° the borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments;
w international rating agencies have classified the borrower in the default rating class;
o the borrower meets the unlikeliness-to-pay criteria listed below:

- the borrower is insolvent;
- the borrower is in breach of financial covenant(s);

- it is becoming likely that the borrower will enter bankruptcy.

For purposes of disclosure, the Company fully aligned the definition of default with the definition of
credit-impaired assets. The default definition stated above is applied to all types of financial assets of the
Company.

The assessment whether or not there has been a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial
recognition is performed on an individual basis and on a portfolio basis. For other financial assets, SICR
is assessed either on a portfolio basis or an individual basis, depending on the existence of scoring
models. The criteria used to identify an SICR are monitored and reviewed periodically for
appropriateness by the management of the Company. The presumption, being that there have been
significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition when financial assets are more than 30 days
past due, has not been rebutted.

The level of ECL that is recognised in these financial statements depends on whether the credit risk of the
borrower has increased significantly since initial recognition. This is a three-stage model for ECL
measurement. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition and its credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial recognition has a credit loss allowance based on 12-month
ECLs (Stage 1). If a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to
Stage 2 but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired and the loss allowance is based on lifetime ECLs. If a
financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 3 and loss allowance is
based on lifetime ECLs. The consequence of an asset being in Stage 3 is that the entity ceases to
recognise interest income based on gross carrying value and applies the asset’s effective interest rate to
the carrying amount, net of ECL, when calculating interest income.
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If there is evidence that the SICR criteria are no longer met, the instrument is transferred back to Stage 1.
If an exposure has been transferred to Stage 2 based on a qualitative indicator, the Company monitors
whether that indicator continues to exist or has changed. ECL for POCI financial assets is always
measured on a lifetime basis. The Company therefore only recognises the cumulative changes in lifetime
expected credit losses.

The Company has two approaches for ECL measurement: (i) assessment on an individual basis; (ii)
assessment based on external ratings. The Company assesses on an individual basis for trade receivables,
depending on its materiality. The Company performs an assessment based on external ratings for cash and
cash equivalents.

In general, ECL is the sum of the multiplications of the following credit risk parameters: EAD, PD and
LGD, that are defined as explained above, and discounted to present value using the instrument’s
effective interest rate. The ECL is determined by predicting credit risk parameters (EAD, PD and LGD)
for each future year during the lifetime period for each individual exposure or collective segment. These
three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has
been repaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future period,
that is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed up. The discount rate used in the ECL
calculation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The key principles of calculating the credit risk parameters

The EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, that varies by product type. EAD is
based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower over a 12-month or lifetime basis for
amortising products and bullet repayment loans. This will also be adjusted for any expected overpayments
made by a borrower. Early repayment or refinancing assumptions are also incorporated into the
calculation. For revolving products, the EAD is predicted by taking the current drawn balance and adding
a "credit conversion factor” that accounts for the cxpected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of
default. These assumptions vary by product type, current limit utilisation and other borrower-specific
behavioural characteristics.

Two types of PDs are used for calculating ECLs: 12-month and lifetime PD. An assessment of a 12-
month PD is based on the latest available historic default data and adjusted for supportable forward-
looking information when appropriate. Lifetime PDs represent the estimated probability of a default
occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument and it is a sum of the 12 months PDs over the
life of the instrument. The Company uses different statistical approaches depending on the segment and
product type to calculated lifetime PDs, such as the extrapolation of 12-month PDs based on migration
matrixes, developing lifetime PD curves based on the historical default data, hazard rate approach or
other.

LGD represents the Company's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by
the type of counterparty, type and seniority of the claim, and the availability of collateral or other credit
support. The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors that impact the expected
recoveries after a default event.

Interest rate risk
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 the Company did not have outstanding borrowings or

other obligations with flexible interest rate. Accordingly, at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020
the Company was not exposed to interest rate risk.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk that the Company may incur financial loss caused by business interruption or
potential damage of the Company’s property as a result of natural disasters or technological emergencies.
As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 management believes that the Company has adequate
insurance policy for civil liability and loss of assets.

29. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for participants and benefits for other partners and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain and adjust the level of the
capital, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to participants, return capital to
participants, make an additional contribution to the charter capital, or sell assets to reduce debt. The
amount of the capital that the Company managed as at 31 December 2021 amounted to Tenge 54.284.163
thousand (2020: Tenge 51.989.094 thousand).

30. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the amount for which a financial instrument can be exchanged in a current transaction
between interested parties, except in cases of sale or liquidation under compulsion. The best evidence of
fair value is the price of a financial instrument quoted in an active market.

Fair value measurements are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) Level 1 are
measurements at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) Level 2
measurements are valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and (iii) Level 3 measurements are
valuations not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

All financial instruments of the Company are carried at amortised cost. Their fair values were determined
using Level 3 measurements of the fair value hierarchy, based on the available market data or relevant
valuation techniques.

However, judgement is required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. The
Republic of Kazakhstan continues to display some characteristics of an emerging market and economic
conditions continue to limit the volume of activity in the financial markets. Market quotations may be
outdated or reflect distress sale transactions, and therefore not represent fair values of financial
instruments. Management has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of
financial instruments.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments is based on estimated future cash flows
expected to be received discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk
and remaining maturity. Discount rates used depend on the credit risk of the counterparty. Due to the
short-term nature of trade receivables, their carrying amount approximates their fair value.

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
Fair values of other liabilities were determined using valuation techniques. The estimated fair value of

fixed interest rate instruments with stated maturities were estimated based on expected cash flows
discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risks and remaining maturities.
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The fair value of liabilities repayable on demand or after a notice period (“demandable liabilities™) is
estimated as the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be
required to be paid. Due to the short-term nature of trade payables, their carrying amount approximates
their fair value.

31. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 2 January 2022 population protests triggered by the rise in fuel gas prices began in Mangistau region
and further spread to other regions in Kazakhstan. In the course of the protests, a number of social and
economic demands were made. Although the Government took a comprehensive set of measures in order
to respond to the people’s demands, including a decrease in fuel gas prices, protests consequently turncd
into social unrest, during which the municipal governments’ (“akimat™) and law enforcement authorities’
buildings were captured. Major events took place in Almaty and southern regions of the country.

As aresult, on 5 January 2022 the state of emergency was declared until 19 January 2022, and restrictions
were imposed on communication and transportation of both people and vehicles, including railway and
airline carriage.

Currently, the situation in all regions of the country has stabilized, the state of emergency canceled.
Utilities and life support systems have been fully restored, and restrictions on communication and
transportation of both people and vehicles have been relieved.

The events have not had a material impact on the Company’s/Group’s operations; however, the tensions
remain in the country, and further development of the events and their impact on the Company’s/Group’s
operations is not possible to predict

32. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the management of the Company
on 1 February 2022,
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